\Earth Negotiations Bulletin

A Reportl ng Servicefor Environment and Devel opment Negotiations
On-lineat http://www.iisd.ca/climate/cop6/tech_ws/compliance/

Vol. 12 No. 124

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development

Monday, 6 March 2000

SUMMARY OF THE WORKSHOP ON
COMPLIANCEUNDERTHEKYOTOPROTOCOL:
1-3MARCH 2000

The Workshop on Compliance under the Kyoto Protocol to the
Framework Convention on Climate Change (FCCC) was held from 1-
3 March 2000 at the Wissenschaftszentrum, Bonn, Germany. The
Workshop was designed to assist in the devel opment of elements of
procedures and mechanismsrelating to acompliance systemfor in-
depth consideration at forthcoming meetings of the Joint Working
Group on Compliance (JWG). The workshop was organized by the
FCCC Secretariat and the Co-Chairs of the WG, Eighty-one partici-
pants attended the workshop, including representatives of govern-
ments, inter-governmental organizations (IGOs) and non-
governmental organizations (NGOS).

Participants heard presentations and discussed variousissues
related to the creation of acompliance system under the Protocol
including: linkages between Articles 5 (methodological issues), 7
(communication of information) and 8 (review of information) and the
compliance system; institutional design; outcomes or consequences of
non-compliance or potential non-compliance; general provisions; and
aframework. On the basis of discussions during the workshop aswell
astheir working paper resulting from the consultationsheld in
Montreux in February, the Co-Chairswill endeavor to develop atext
that could form the basis for negotiations at the twel fth session of the
subsidiary bodies (SB-12).

A BRIEFHISTORY OF THEFCCCAND THEKYOTO
PROTOCOL

The FCCC was adopted on 9 May 1992, and was opened for signa-
ture at the UN Conference on Environment and Development in June
1992. The FCCC entered into force on 21 March 1994, 90 days after
receipt of the 50th ratification. It has currently received 181 instru-
ments of ratification.

COP-1: Thefirst Conference of the Partiesto the FCCC (COP-1)
took placein Berlinfrom 28 March - 7 April 1995. In addition to
addressing anumber of important issues rel ated to the future of the
FCCC, del egatesreached agreement on the adequacy of commitments
and adopted the "Berlin Mandate." Del egates agreed to establish an
open-ended Ad Hoc Group on the Berlin Mandate (AGBM) to begin a
processtoward appropriate action for the period beyond 2000,
including the strengthening of Annex | Parties’ commitmentsthrough

the adoption of aprotocol or another legal instrument. COP-1 also
requested the Secretariat to make arrangementsfor sessions of the
subsidiary bodies on scientific and technol ogical advice (SBSTA) and
implementation (SBI). SBSTA servesasthelink between theinforma
tion provided by competent international bodies, and the policy-
oriented needs of the COP. SBI was created to devel op recommenda-
tionsto assist the COP inthereview and assessment of the implemen-
tation of the Convention and in the preparation and implementation o
itsdecisions.

AD HOC GROUPON ARTICLE 13: AG13wasset up to
consider the establishment of amultilateral consultative process
(MCP) available to Parties to resol ve questions on implementation.
AG13-1, held from 30-31 October 1995 in Geneva, requested Parties,
non-Parties, |GOs and NGOsto make written submissionsin response
to aquestionnaire on an MCP. At their fifth session, del egates agreed
that the M CP should be advisory rather than supervisory in nature and
AG13 should completeitswork by COP-4, which it did at itssixth
Session.

AD HOC GROUP ON THE BERLIN MANDATE: The AGBM
met eight times between August 1995 and COP-3in December 1997.
During thefirst three sessions, del egates focused on analyzing and
assessing possible poli cies and measures to strengthen the commit-

INTHISISSUE
A Brief History of the FCCC and the Kyoto Protocol . . .. .. 1
ReportoftheWorkshop .. ...t 2
Elements of a Compliance System under the Protocaol. .3
Linkages: Articles5, 7& 8 and Compliance. .. ...... 4
Functionsand Institutional Design . ............... 6
ReferralandScreening . ... 7
Procedureof Treatmentof Cases. . ................ 7
Procedurefor theKyoto Mechanisms.............. 7
Procedures of the ComplianceBody/ies ............ 8
Roleof theCOP/IMOP. .. ........ ... 8
Possible Outcomesor Consequences. . ............. 8
General Provisions . .......... ..., 9
Scopeof Application. ................. ... ..., 9
CloSiNgSESSION . . oo 9
Thingsto Look For BeforeCOP-6. . .................. 10

This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Lavanya Rajamani <lavanya@iisd.org> and Juliette Voinov
<cedrickohler@email.msn.com>.The Editor is Pamela Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Managing Editor is Langston James "Kimo" Goree <kimo@iisd.org>. The
Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are The Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the United States (through USAID), the Swiss
Agency for Environment, Forests and Landscape (SAEFL), the United Kingdom Department for International Development (DFID) and the European Commission (DG-X1.)
General Support for the Bulletin during 2000 is provided by the the German Federal Ministry of Environment (BMU) and the German Federal Ministry of Development
Cooperation (BMZ), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Ministry of Environment of Austria, the Ministries of Foreign Affairsand Environment of Norway, the Ministry
of Foreign Affairsand Ministry of Environment of Finland, the Government of Sweden, the Government of Australia, the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), the
Global Environment Facility (GEF) and BP Amoco. Specific funding for this meeting was provided by the Government of the Netherlands. The Bulletin can be contacted by e-
mail at <enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. |1SD can be contacted by e-mail at <info@iisd.ca> and at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor,
Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y 4, Canada. The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of 11SD and
other funders. Excerptsfrom the Earth NegotiationsBulletin may be used in non-commercial publicationsonly and only with appropriate academic citation. For permission to use
this material in commercial publications, contact the Managing Editor. Electronic versions of the Bulletin are sent to e-mail distribution lists and can be found on the Linkages
WWW server at http://www.iisd.callinkages. The satellite image was taken above Geneva ©2000 The Living Earth, Inc. http://livingearth.com. For information on the Earth

Negotiations Bulletin, send e-mail to <enb@iisd.org>.




Monday, 6 March 2000

Vol. 12 No. 124 Page 2

ments of Annex | Parties, how Annex | countries might distribute or
share new commitments and whether commitments should take the
form of an amendment or a protocol. AGBM-4, which coincided with
COP-2 in Genevain July 1996, compl eted itsin-depth analysis of the
likely elements of aprotocol and States appeared ready to prepare a
negotiating text. At AGBM-5, which met in December 1996, del egates
recognized the need to decide whether or not to permit Annex | Parties
to use mechanismsthat would provide them with flexibility in meeting
their quantified emissionslimitation and reduction objectives
(QELROs).

Asthe protocol was drafted during the sixth and seventh sessions
of the AGBM, in March and August 1997, respectively, delegates
"streamlined" aframework compilation text by merging or eliminating
some overlapping provisions within the myriad of proposals. Much of
the discussion centered on aproposal fromthe EU for al5%-cutina
"basket" of three greenhouse gases (GHG) by the year 2010 compared
to 1990 emission levels. In October 1997, asAGBM-8 began, US
President Bill Clintonincluded acall for "meaningful participation™ by
developing countriesin the negotiating position he announced in
Washington. In response, the G-77/Chinadistanced itself from
attemptsto draw devel oping countriesinto agreeing to new commit-
ments.

COP-3: The Third Conference of the Parties (COP-3) was held
from 1-11 December 1997 in Kyoto, Japan. Over 10,000 participants,
including representatives from governments, |GOs, NGOs and the
media, attended the Conference, which included a high-level segment
featuring statements from over 125 ministers. Following aweek and a
half of intense forma and informal negotiations, Partiesto the FCCC
adopted the Kyoto Protocol on 11 December.

In the Protocol, Annex | Partiesto the FCCC agreed to commit-
mentswith aview to reducing their overall emissions of six GHGs by
at least 5% below 1990 level s between 2008 and 2012. The Protocol
also established emissionstrading, "joint implementation” (J1)
between devel oped countries, and a" clean development mechanism”
(CDM) to encouragejoint emissions reduction projects between devel -
oped and devel oping countries. To date, 84 countries have signed and
22 haveratified the Protocol. The Protocol will enter into force 90 days
after itisratified by 55 States, including Annex | Partiesrepresenting
at least 55% of the total carbon dioxide emissionsfor 1990.

COP-4: The Fourth Conference of the Parties (COP-4) was held
from 2-13 November 1998 in Buenos Aires, Argentina, with over
5,000 participantsin attendance. During the two-week meeting, dele-
gates deliberated decisionsfor the COP during SBI-9 and SBSTA-9.
Issuesrelated to the Protocol were considered injoint SBI/SBSTA
sessions. A high-level segment, which heard statementsfrom over 100
ministers and heads of delegation, was convened on Thursday, 12
November. Following hoursof high-level closed door negotiationsand
afinal plenary session, delegates adopted the Buenos Aires Plan of
Action (BAPA). Under the Plan of Action, the Partiesdeclared their
determination to strengthen the implementation of the FCCC and
prepare for the future entry into force of the Protocol. The BAPA
containsthe Parties' resolution to demonstrate substantial progresson:
the financial mechanism; the devel opment and transfer of technology;
theimplementation of FCCC Articles4.8 and 4.9, aswell as Protocol
Articles2.3 and 3.14 (adverse effects); activitiesimplemented jointly
(A1J); the mechanisms of the Protocol; and the preparations for the
first Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Partiesto
the Protocol (COP/MOP-1).

SBI-10 AND SBSTA-10: Thesubsidiary bodiesto the FCCC held
their tenth sessionsin Bonn, Germany, from 31 May - 11 June 1999,
and began the process of fulfilling the BAPA. SBSTA considered
topicssuch asAnnex | communications, methodol ogical issuesandthe
development and transfer of technology. SBI discussed, inter alia,

administrative and financial matters and non-Annex | communica-
tions. SBI and SBSTA jointly considered the mechanisms of the
Protocol, AlJand compliance. A joint SBI/SBSTA working group on
compliance (JWG) discussed identification of compliance-rel ated
elements, including gaps and suitable forumsto address them; design
of acompliance system; and consequences of nhon-compliance. The
JWG resolved to hold aworkshop to facilitate informal exchange of
views on relevant issues, including experiences under other conven-
tions.

INFORMAL EXCHANGE OF VIEWSAND INFORMA-
TION ON COMPLIANCE UNDER THEKYOTO PROTOCOL:
Theinformal exchange of viewsand information on compliance under
the Kyoto Protocol was held in Vienna, Austria, from 6-7 October
1999. Theinformal exchange was designed to facilitate deliberations
on the devel opment of acompliance system under the Protocol.
Ninety-seven participants attended the meeting, including experts,
representativesfrom governments, UN agencies, and |GOsand NGOs.
Participantsmet in several sessionsover two daysto hear presentations
from experts and discuss variousissuesrelated to compliance,
including: compliance regimes under the Montreal Protocol, the
Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution and its proto-
cols, the International Labor Organization and the World Trade Orga-
nization; institutional issues such asfacilitative and enforcement
functions, eligibility to raiseissues and information gathering; and
issues related to the consequences of non-compliance.

COP-5: TheFifth Conference of the Parties (COP-5) met in Bonn,
Germany, from 25 October - 5 November 1999. With over 3000 partic-
ipantsin attendance and 165 Parties represented, del egates continued
their work toward fulfilling the BAPA. Ninety-three ministersand
other heads of delegation addressed COP-5 during a high-level
segment held from 2-3 November. During itslast two days, COP-5
adopted 32 draft decisionsand conclusionson, inter alia, the review of
theimplementation of commitments and other FCCC provisions, and
preparations for COP/MOP-1. On compliance, COP-5 adopted the
JWG Conclusions (FCCC/SB/1999/CRP.7) which, inter alia: invited
Partiesto submit further proposals on compliance by 31 January 2000;
confirmed that aworkshop on matters relating to a compliance system
would be convened in March 2000; and reguested the WG Co-Chairs
tofurther devel op the elements of procedures and mechanismsrelating
to acompliance system for in-depth consideration at forthcoming
meetings of the WG and to serve asabasisfor negotiation of a
compliance system at SB-12. Informal consultationswere convenedin
Montreux, Switzerland from 9-11 February 2000, in preparation for
the workshop on compliance.

REPORT OF THE WORKSHOP

The Workshop on Compliance under the Protocol was opened by
Co-Chair Amb. TuilomaNeroni Slade. Heinformed participants that
the Co-Chairs, in pursuance of their mandate from COP-5to consult
widely, had convened aninformal consultation in Montreux, Switzer-
land, from 9-11 February 2000. Based on the results of this consulta-
tion and 15 written submissions from Parties, the Co-Chairs had
prepared aworking paper outlining the elements of acompliance
system for consideration during the workshop. Co-Chair Slade
described the workshop as an informal exchange of views, not anego-
tiating session, aimed at providing the Co-Chairswith a better under-
standing of Parties’ positions so asto enable them to formul ate a paper
for consideration at SB-12. He identified the need to discuss four
groups of issues:

» general issues, including nature, principlesand scope of appli-
cation;

« functionsand institutional arrangementsfor carrying out
functions;



Voal. 12 No. 124 Page 3

Monday, 6 March 2000

 outcomesand consequences of non-compliance; and
« otherissues, including relationship with Articles 16 (MCP) and 19
(dispute settlement).

ELEMENTS OF A COMPLIANCE SYSTEM UNDER THE
KYOTO PROTOCOL

PRESENTATIONS: Participants heard six presentations on
Parties' proposed elementsfor acompliance system under the
Protocol.

AQOSISidentified four basic functions and theinstitutional arrange-
mentsto carry them out. First, Expert Review Teams (ERTSs) would
conduct technical assessments of information submitted by Annex |
Partiesunder Articles 5 (methodological issues) and 7 (communica
tion of information). Second, the Mechanisms’ Eligibility Committee
would determinethe eligibility of aParty to participate in the mecha-
nisms, an administrative rather than aquasi-judicial function. Third,
the Compliance Committee would promote Parties’ compliancewith
Protocol commitments during the compliance period, and fourth, the
Enforcement Panel would determine non-compliance with Article 3.1
(quantified emission limitation and reduction commitments) and
impose penalties and consequences. The [UCN asked if it may be
appropriate to have enforcement type activities during the compliance
period. AOSIS responded that it envisaged an overlap between
enforcement and compliance functions.

JAPAN said one of thefeatures of its proposal was the existence of
aCommittee on the Kyoto M echanisms. This committee would be part
of the Compliance Body and handle questions of compliance with the
mechanisms’ eligibility. To avoid atraffic jam before the first commit-
ment period, she said eligibility would not be automatically deter-
mined, but could be considered on avoluntary basisor if questions of
implementation were raised. On the functions of the Compliance
Body, shesaid it could take either facilitation and enforcement kind of
action. Shethen highlighted a special procedure for the Committee on
the Kyoto Mechanismsthat would ensure an expeditious resol ution of
issueswithin 60 days, in principle, including through the use of elec-
tronic meetings. On the consegquences of non-compliance, she
suggested an indicative list adopted without an amendment to the
Protocol whereby the suspension of specific rightsand privileges
could be recommended to the COP/MOP only asalast resort. She
concluded by stressing the need to take advantage of the existing arti-
clesintheProtocol in order to alow itsearly entry into force.

The US proposal highlighted five functions of the compliance
entity: to decide which referred matters would be pursued; to provide
advice and facilitation; to address allegations about the eligibility to
use mechanisms; to determine whether an allegation of non-compli-
anceiswell founded; and to determine outcomes of non-compliance.
He said the compliance entity would be divided into two components:
afacilitative one, to consider all aspects of compliancewith the
Protocol and could go asfar asissuing warnings; and ajudicial one,
focusing on Article 3.1 and on the mechanisms' eligibility. He added
that therewas aneed for consequences of non-compliancewith Article
3.1, such asthe subtraction of tonsfrom a subsequent period with a
penalty rate, to beidentified in advance. Hethen reviewed four link-
ages between the compliance regime and the mechanisms. First, onthe
eligibility, hereferred to the linkage between, on the one hand, compli-
ancewith Articles5 and 7 and, on the other hand, loss of accesstothe
mechanisms. He also highlighted the possibility of adjustments by
ERTsasaway of preventing non-compliance with Article 5.2 (meth-
odologiesfor estimating emissions). Second, on who reviewswhat
aspect of compliance related to the mechanisms, he suggested that:
ERTsreview theuse of sinksaswell asthe eligibility to use the mecha-
nisms; aCDM body, such asthe executive board, review thevalidity of
Certified Emission Reductions (CERS); and an audit processreview
Emission Reduction Units (ERUS).Third, on therelationship with

Article 7 he stressed the need for domestic complianceinstitutionsand
suggested that Parties have the obligation to report on these. Finally, he
commented on whether there wasaneed for adistinct treatment in
handling compliancewith Article 3.1 and ligibility issues. Following
aquestion by SAUDI ARABIA, he said the enforcement component
of the compliance entity would primarily deal with devel oped country
obligationsunder Article 3.1.

AUSTRALIA, inoutlining itsvision for acompliance system, said
the compliance processwould beinitiated through the Article 8
(review of information) expert review process. Questions of Annex B
Parties’ implementation of their legally binding obligationsidentified
by ERTswould be directed to the compliance system. In this context,
she highlighted the need to include criteriain the guidelinesto be
provided to ERTsunder Article 8.4 (COP/MOPto adopt and review
guidelinesfor the review of implementation of the Protocol by ERTS).
Such criteriawould identify what constitutes “ questions of implemen-
tation” and when these would move from the technical review stageto
the compliance system. She stressed the need for afacilitative stage to
precede an enforcement stage. If a Party isfound in non-compliance
after the commitment period, she suggested it be allowed to choose
one from amenu of consequences, which would be most suitabletoits
national circumstances. On linkages, sheidentified Articles5, 7and 8
asthe backbone of the compliance system since they provide the tools
for assessing Parties' compliance with their Article 3 target. Further,
shesuggested that since mechanismseligibility issueswereintrinsi-
cally linked to Article 3.1 target i ssues, the same compliance body deal
with both kinds of issues. Arising from thislinkage, sherecommended
that only afinding that an Annex | Party isnot in compliance with Arti-
cles5 and 7 affect its mechanismseligibility. She also suggested that
there be anexus between the compliance problem under these articles
and the extent of theloss of eligibility to participatein the mechanisms.

The EU identified the functions of the compliance system as
preventing non-compliance, facilitating compliance and repairing
non-compliance. He said the compliance body should be astanding
body with separate enforcement and facilitative branches. He advo-
cated atotal or partial determination of eligibility to participateinthe
Kyoto mechanisms prior to 2008. Members of the enforcement branch
should havejudicial experienceto ensure due process. He highlighted
the necessity of an expedited procedure to determine compliance with
Article 3.1. This processwould ensure due process. Questionsraised
ontheédligibility of Partiesto participate in emissionstrading and Ji
would bereferred to the expedited procedure but questionsraised on
CDM participation would be referred to the executive board of the
CDM. On therel ationship between the review process and the compli-
ance procedure, he said that if serious problems, such asfailureto
submit the annual GHG inventory, areidentified during theinitial
check by the Secretariat, the case might bereferred directly to the
compliance body. For less serious problems, the next stages of the
review process, namely synthesis and assessment and individual
review, can take place. During theindividual review of GHG invento-
ries conducted by the expert review teamstwo types of problemscould
beidentified: those with consequencesfor assigned amounts and for
the assessment of compliance with Article 3 commitments, and those
relevant to the process of inventory construction. Whilethe former
could be resolved by applying adjustmentsunder Article 5.2, the latter
would require show of progressin subsequent reviews. Wherethe
adjusted estimates are not accepted by the concerned Party, or if insti-
tutional and procedural problems are not addressed over subsequent
reviews, then the matter could be referred to the compliance
committee. On the timeline of compliance process, he suggested that
the submission of information under Articles5 and 7 be improved so
asto bring forward thefinal determination of non-compliance.



Monday, 6 March 2000

Voal. 12 No. 124 Page 4

NIGERIA sought el aboration of the EU position on the question of
enforcement and, in particular, on the nature of consequences and how
they relateto Article 18 (non-compliance). The EU said that the conse-
guences should not only make non-compliance unattractive but also
repair non-compliance. Non-compliance should be faced with predict-
able and robust outcomes entailing clear economic consequencesfor
Partiesin breach. He expressed hisreservation with respect to the
proposal permitting borrowing from future commitment periods.
CHINA queried if the ERTs could trigger cases of non-compliance.
The EU responded that while the ERTs had aclear rolein identifying
questions of implementation, it could only forward them to the compli-
ance body through the Secretariat. He said that no enforcement was
possible during the commitment period. He added, however, that the
information made available to the compliance committee during the
commitment period could be handled through facilitation. The US
sought clarification on the phrase “ compliance with KP criteria” inthe
context of eligibility criteriafor the mechanisms. The EU explained
that the phrase wasintended to convey adistinction between criteria
for project-based mechanisms and criteriarelated more generally to
the Parties.

SAUDI ARABIA said the compliance system should be simple
and closeto what was agreed tointhe Protocol, in particul ar Articles5,
7 and 8. He said the compliance system would have facilitative and
enforcement functions, in accordance with Articles 16 (MCP) and 18,
and follow astaged approach. He stressed that issues of eligibility
should not be dealt with by acompliance system since these were only
reflected in Article6 (J1), and not in Article 18. Co-Chair Slade ques-
tioned such anarrow reading of Article 18.

LINKAGES: ARTICLESS5, 7 AND 8, THE KYOTO
MECHANISMS AND THE COMPLIANCE SYSTEM UNDER
THE KYOTO PROTOCOL

PRESENTATIONS: Participants heard 11 presentations on link-
ages between Articles 5 (methodological issues), 7 (communication of
information) and 8 (review of information), the Kyoto mechanisms
and the compliance system under the Protocol.

Introducing her submission on the linkages between Article 8 and
adjustmentsunder Article 5, JAPAN highlighted the three stages of the
inventory review process: initial check by the Secretariat; synthesis
and assessment of inventories; and review by ERTs. She said a Party
could make adjustments during these three stages only in two cases:
the Party’sinventory isincomplete; and/or country-specific methodol -
ogies and/or emissionsfactors are used but supporting documents are
considered insufficient. The ERTS' report would indicate if a Party
neither made adjustments nor accepted the emissions estimate made
by the ERTs. Thisreport would be published and sent to the Partiesand
the compliance body through the Secretariat. Foll owing aquestion by
the US, she said that avoluntary adjustment by a Party during the
review process did not mean that theissue could not go to the compli-
ance body. In cases of egregious violationstheissue could be sent to
the compliance body.

The FCCC Secretariat presented compliance-related issuesin the
work onArticles5, 7 and 8. Onguidelinesfor national systems, hesaid
oneissuewas how registries might bereflected in national systems. On
reporting, he highlighted, inter alia, the coverage and detail of
reporting, and the timing and frequency of submission of supplemen-
tary information. On review, he said Parties generally suggested that,
inter alia: there should be a pre-commitment review of the assigned
amount units (AAUSs) and of Articles5 and 7 to allow the use of mech-
anisms; there should be guidance to identify questions of implementa-
tion; and the results of the two-year technical inventory review trial
under the FCCC aredirectly relevant to the Article 8 guidelinesand
could lead to enhancementsin the future. He added that among the
issuesto be considered were the overall timing of the review, adjust-

ment and compliance processes. In thisregard he cautioned that the
different stepsbetween theend of ayear for which aninventory needed
to be submitted and a COP decision on compliance could require as
much as 38 months.

Following concern expressed by the US and the EU on the need for
an expeditious procedure on eligibility, the Secretariat said he hoped to
gather experience by 2008, solveissues before the beginning of the
first commitment period, and find waysto expeditethe review process.

The FCCC Secretariat outlined the state of play on negotiations on
the mechanisms. Sheinformed participantsthat adraft text wasto be
reviewed at theinformal consultations on mechanismsto beheldin
KualaLumpur later thismonth. Sheindicated the proposals made by
Partieson, inter alia: eigibility; compliance-related issues; institu-
tional issuesrelated to the CDM; and the executive board. On eligi-
bility to participate in mechanisms, one proposal wasthat Annex |
Parties must be in compliance with Articles5 and 7 and that both
Annex | and non-Annex | Parties comply with FCCC Article 12
(communication of information related to implementation). On
compliance-related issues, one proposal wasthat if aParty isnotin
compliance with Article 3 (quantified emission limitation and reduc-
tion commitments), CERs acquired should beinvalidated either in part
orinfull.

CANADA sought aclarification on theideaof “pre-commitment
review of the assigned amount.” The Secretariat said that Parties
needed to decide whether apreliminary calculation of the assigned
amount isrequired before the commitment period commences. On
post-commitment review, the US and the EU expressed concern about
the 38-month timeline identified by the Secretariat for review under
the Protocol. The Secretariat said that it expected to revise this esti-
mate with increasi ng experience with the technical review process. He
highlighted the need for Partiesto cooperate ontimelines and therole
of money in facilitating and expediting the review process. Co-Chair
Harald Dovland suggested that the submission of preliminary data
might shorten the review period. Co-Chair Slade stressed theimpor-
tance of reporting on domestic compliance. The INTERNATIONAL
CHAMBER OF COMMERCE asked what the practical impact would
be on projectsin case unclear questionsarisein thereview processor if
non-complianceis determined to exist. In response, the FCCC said it
would depend on the way the CDM isdevel oped by the Parties.

The OECD'’s presentation highlighted the common issues and
inter-linkages between compliance, eligibility and baselines, free
riders, monitoring and review, and domestic systems. On emissions
trading, she said linkage issuesincluded defining “ supplementa” to
domestic action, eligibility, liability, accounting for AAUsand inven-
tories. She added that if participantsincluded private/legal entities,
national implementation was key and the market was morelikely to
thrive. She stressed that national implementation systemswere needed
not only for emissionstrading but al so to monitor the effects of policies
and measures. On the CDM, she said that the oversight bodies such as
the executive board and the operational bodieswere already built into
the Protocol and that their relationship with the review process needed
to beclarified. On thereview of national communications, she high-
lighted the new functionsintroduced by the Protocol: assess demon-
strable progress by 2005; assess eligibility; identify potential problems
or factorsinfluencing the fulfillment of commitments; and start the
facilitation process. She concluded by listing the prioritiesfor COP-6:
basi cs of the compliance system; institutional design and oversight of
the CDM; basdlines guidance; eligibility rulesfor the mechanisms;
role of adjustments; and stronger and more focused review of Annex |
national communications.

ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENSE said both NGOs and the industry
agree on the need for an accountability and compliance framework for
“making the atmospherewhol€e”’ and for competitivenessreasons,



Voal. 12 No. 124 Page 5

Monday, 6 March 2000

respectively. She highlighted that the failure of a Party to report on
emissions should result in the attribution of “uncontrolled” emissions
levels and suspension of selling of allowances. In caseswherethe
emissions exceeded the net assigned amount, the Party concerned
would be subject to an immediate true up through the purchase of
surplusAAUSs, ERUsor CERs. In case of failureto do so, the excess
emissionswould be deducted from the next commitment period with a
penalty.

Following aquestion by BRAZIL on the compatibility of sucha
deduction with the objective of “making the atmospherewhole,” she
said this deduction, although necessary, would not be a sufficient
incentive for ensuring compliance during the budget period. Other
incentives and measures under Article 18 needed to be elaborated. She
then suggested that, in the absence of aninternational enforcement
authority, “ constituencies for compliance,” be created both among
nations, and among communities and companies at the domestic level.
She concluded by stressing theimportance for clear rulesonan
accountability and compliance framework to be adopted at COP-6in
order to allow investment decisionsleading to emissionsreductionsto
take place before 2008.

The CENTER FOR INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL
LAW outlined the elements of a Compliance Fund. If there areinsuffi-
cient credits available during the true up following the end of the
commitment period, Parties could be faced with breaching their
Protocol obligations, even if they havethewill to comply. In such
cases, Parties could pay afeeinto the Compliance Fund and receive
credits equivalent to the extent of their overage and thus avoid being
out of compliance when the true up ends. Fees collected by the
Compliance Fund would be used to underwrite highly reliable “gold
standard” GHG mitigation projects throughout the world, such as
renewables and demand-si de management projects. The feeswould be
set on the basis of actual estimated mitigation costs, plusasurchargeto
account for administrative costs, funding for adaptation and therisk of
project failure. He suggested that the CDM administer the Fund. He
identified several strengths of the Compliance Fund, including
simplicity, reliability and efficiency and one weakness, namely that it
requires payment to an international institution, whichispolitically
unpal atable. He said that one way of addressing this question would be
to set up adomestic fund, administered by the Party in overage. He
pointed out however that significant oversight and verification issues
would ariseinthiscase.

The WORLD WILDLIFE FUND elaborated on various measures,
remedial and punitive, to address non-compliance. On remedial
measures, she highlighted varioustypes of financial penalties,
including the dynamic or floating financial penalty based on the costs
of developing gold standard mitigation projects and the fixed rate
financial penalty based on aper ton rate. On the notion of allowing a
Party to cureits overage from one commitment period by reducing its
assigned amount from the next, she said: it allows Partiesto defer
taking action to eliminate the overage; it containsthe possibility that
Partieswill repeatedly roll-over their overage by freely borrowing
from commitment period to commitment period thereby destroying the
integrity of the commitment period; it may provide an incentiverather
than adisincentive for non-complianceif the penalty pay-back rateis
set too low; and it provides ittle assuranceto other Partiesthat the
environmental harm and economic benefits of non-compliancewill be
corrected, thus potentially diminishing thewill of those Partiesto
comply with their own targets. On punitive measures, she highlighted
several optionsincluding public approbation, suspension of treaty
privileges and trade-rel ated measures. She stressed that even inthe
case of deminimisviolationsthefull penalty should apply sincethe

Party could easily cure the overage through the use of mechanisms or
the Compliance Fund. Failure to do so demonstrated bad faith and
warranted consequences.

The CENTER FOR CLEAN AIRPOLICY stressed that GHG
accounting was fundamental . He said ERTs should be more than what
they had been until now and that the private sector could helpin
ensuring the quality of data either as a subcontractor of part of the
ERTs work or to pre-certify the quality of the data systems generating
activity data. He al so said there was a need to establish clear ruleson
when an inventory could be adjusted and when the methodol ogies for
estimating GHGs presented such major problemsthat an adjustment
was not possible, therefore emissionstrading could not take place. On
toolsto ensure compliance, he suggested preventive aswell as deter-
rent measures. He said preventive measures could include the annual
submission by a Party of thelisting of AAUsretired to cover itsesti-
mate of aggregate equivalent emissionsin that year. He added that
although sanctions could be of apolitical and/or economic nature, he
favored treaty-related sanctions, such asthe requirement to purchase
AAUs or the deduction of AAUsfrom the subsequent period with a
penalty, and trade-rel ated sanctions, such astheloss of therightsto sell
or buy AAUs during the subsequent period. He also highlighted that
the success of other trading systems such asthe US SO, market had

been attributed to the existence of financial penalties.

The INTERNATIONAL CHAMBER OF COMMERCE pointed
out that while governments would be bound by the Protocol, compa-
nies are bound by national legislation. He said differencesin national
legidation might have an impact on companies business strategies.
On mechanisms, he said cost-effectiveness was essential and that
excessiverules, regulations and costs should be avoided. Hereferred
to possible ceilings on the use of mechanisms and said these would
bring uncertainties since they could lead to the non-approval of along-
planned CDM project. On the consequences of non-compliance, he
asked how enforcement measures would treat acompany in compli-
ance with domestic legislation in acountry that wasitself not
complying withitsinternational obligations. He added he could not
accept theretrieval of GHG reductions resulting from mechanisms’
transactionsin cases where companies had made such transactionsin
good faith.

The EDISON ELECTRIC INSTITUTE supported the concept of a
true-up period at the end of the commitment period and some reason-
able form of enforcement consistent with Article 18 (non-compliance)
that does not have the effect of driving Partiesfrom the Protocol or
FCCC pursuant to Protocol Article 27 (withdrawal). He did not
support the requirement of financial penaltiesfor any purpose asthis
would, inthe US case, be paid by UStaxpayers. He suggested that as
the Protocol was unique with regard to compliance, the focusbe on
facilitating compliance and learning from experience. He recognized,
however, the need for Partiesto have some certainty about the binding
conseguences that would follow from non-compliance findings, and
agreed that anindicativelist of consequencesmight be helpful. Hesaid
that such consequences could never be automaticin light of Article 18,
which specifiesthat thelist of consequencesto be developed by the
Parties should take into account such factors asthe “ cause, type,
degree and frequency of non-compliance.” Thesefactorswould neces-
sarily require case-by-case consideration. He also cautioned that
suggestionsthat Parties could lose the right to use the mechanisms
because of alleged violations of Articles5 and 7and the related non-
mandatory guidelines could jeopardize their economic value for
Parties and the private sector. He reminded Partiesthat the Article 3
commitment isfor abudget period of five years. Consequently annual
complianceideas are adverseto this provision.



Monday, 6 March 2000

Vol. 12 No. 124 Page 6

DISCUSSION: AUSTRIA suggested that the Compliance Work-
shop identify common ground on the linkages between the compliance
system and Articles5, 7 and 8 and present it to the workshop on Arti-
cles5, 7 and 8. He expressed the hope that they could find waysto
reduce the timeline of the overall review and compliance process. He
al so suggested the need for the compliance workshop to identify
mandatory requirementsunder Articles5, 7 and 8 and convey them to
the methodol ogical experts dealing with these Articles. The UK and
AUSTRALIA said that theidentification of mandatory requirements
under Articles5, 7 and 8 should beleft to the groups dealing with the
mechanismsand Articles5, 7 and 8. AOSI S suggested that a distinc-
tion be made between mandatory el ements of atechnical nature and
other mandatory requirements such as reporting on domestic compli-
ance. He recommended that the former be determined by the Articles
5, 7 and 8 group and the | atter by the compliance group. The CENTER
FOR CLEAN AIR POLICY suggested that the WG agree on basic
threshold levelsin determining what would constitute an egregious
breach and provide some guidanceto the ERTsto allow them to decide
when amatter isbeyond adjustment and a Party should enter into
trading restrictions. The US said Article 7 needed to be elaboratedin a
legally binding way.

ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENSE highlighted the need for the
forthcoming Articles5, 7 and 8 workshop to consider where the
burden of proof lies. For instance, the system could assumethat a
Party’sinventory isvalid unlessaquestion israised or vice versa
Supported by NEW ZEAL AND, she suggested discussion on theissue
of linkage between Articles5, 7 and 8 and Article 4 (joint fulfillment
of commitments). On theissue of burden of proof for complying with
theligibility criteria, SAUDI ARABIA said the good faith principle
required that a Party be considered “innocent” until proven “guilty.”
SAMOA suggested referring to “ eligibility” and “ineligibility,” and
said aParty had to demonstrateitseligibility beforeit could participate
inthe mechanisms. NEW ZEALAND, with AUSTRALIA,
CANADA, theUSand JAPAN, stressed that Partieshad aright to use
the mechanisms until abreach had been identified through the review
process. He said that the principle according to which States are
expected to act in good faith should not be challenged. The CENTER
FORINTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL LAW said Article 17
did not establish aright to participatein emissionstrading. The UK
explained that the burden of proof regarding eligibility wasonthe
shoulders of the Party submitting itsinventory, yet inthe case of a
Party challenging another Party, it was up to the challenger to proveits
case. The EU suggested that Parties have the possibility to submit
themselvesto avoluntary assessment of their eligibility. Co-Chair
Dovland promised to submit areport to the Articles 5, 7 and 8 group
and convey the message that the compliance group was concerned
with reducing the timeline of the review process, without losing
quality.

FUNCTIONS AND INSTITUTIONAL DESIGN OF A
COMPLIANCE SYSTEM

Co-Chair Slade, referring to the Co-Chairs working paper, high-
lighted the four functions of acompliance system: screening, facilita-
tion, enforcement and assessment of eligibility. On theinstitutional
design of the compliance system, he said there was general agreement
that there would be a standing compliance body or bodies, witha
distinct treatment for the mechanisms and apossible special treatment
for compliancewith Article 3.1 (quantified emission limitation and
reduction commitments). One option wasto have asingle compliance
body with a sub-structure of abody dealing with mechanismsin an
expeditiousway and abody dealing with compliancewith Article 3.1.
Another option wasto have asingle body with two branches, afacilita-
tiveoneand aquasi-judicial or enforcement one dealing with the
mechanisms, aswell ascompliance with Article 3.1. Heinvited partic-

ipantsto comment on: whether there was aneed to go through afacili-
tative process or if therewould be two separate facilitative and
enforcement branches; in the case of two separate branches, what their
specific mandateswould be; and what the structure of the compliance
body/ieswould be.

CANADA questioned the Co-Chair’s assumption that therewas a
general agreement on the need for adistinct institutional treatment for
mechanisms. The EU, with the US, said that not all issues would need
to go through afacilitative process. Someissues, such asdigihility,
would go directly to the enforcement branch and be submitted to an
expedited procedure. For other issues, he supported a staged approach.

SAUDI ARABIA said the COP/MOP should have ascreening
function and determine whether an issue would go to afacilitative
compliance body, the SBI or SBSTA. An ad hoc committee could
handle enforcement at alater stage. NEW ZEALAND suggested a
three-tier approach: atechnical review team, asingle compliance body
and afurther review body. He asked the EU who would decidewhich
branch anissue should go to. The EU said theissues going directly to
the enforcement branch would be pre-identified. Such issueswould
include eligibility and situationsin which inventories presented such
major problemsthat an adjustment was not possible. In other cases, for
examplewhen an adjustment was possible, there would be astaged
approach: thefacilitative branch would be used and could lead ulti-
mately to an enforcement processin case of failure by aParty to accept
the adjustment proposed through the facilitative process. NEW
ZEALAND said it should be up to the compliance body to determine
cases where there should be facilitation or enforcement. JAPAN also
guestioned the EU distinction between afacilitative and an enforce-
ment process and said assi stance would always be helpful asafirst
step.

On terminology, SOUTH AFRICA suggested that therebe a
“compliance system” with different bodies depending on their facilita-
tive and enforcement role. She said shewas not surewhat afacilitative
rolefor Annex | Partieswould mean in practice. She added it would be
unfair to treat all mechanismsin the sameway. With the UNITED
ARAB EMIRATES, she said that in the case of the CDM, non-Annex |
Parties should not be affected by the fact that an Annex | Party isnot
eligible. She explained that the executive board was responsiblefor
determining if participationinthe CDM ispossibleand that if apartici-
pating Party breached its obligations, the executive board might have a
rolein referring theissue to acompliance system. AUSTRALIA said
Article 3.1 and the use of mechanisms, should be at the core of the
compliance system and dealt with by the same body. She added that
every complianceissue should go through afacilitative process. She
said the possibility of areview/appeal body should bekept in mind.

On the composition of the compliance body, BRAZIL stressed the
need to involve the entire international community. On the question of
the number of bodies, the US said that two components would make
the split in functions clearer. He suggested that the two components
have distinct functions, approaches and compositions. He said one of
the components woul d have be quasi-judicial and composed of
persons capabl e of hearing evidence and making appropriate deci-
sions. He said that criteriawould be set in advance to determinewhich
component a particular case would go to. CHINA asked what would
happen to a case that had been referred to the facilitation component
but despite exhausting all the assistance that component could offer,
the Party wasstill in non-compliance. Inresponse, the US said that if
facilitation runsits course and yet there is a substantial problem, the
case should go to the enforcement/judicial component. SAUDI
ARABIA suggested that the function of deciding which referralsto
pursue be done by abody other than the compliance body. SAMOA



Vol. 12 No. 124 Page 7

Monday, 6 March 2000

cautioned against making sharp distinctions between enforcement and
facilitation. He said the entire process should be one of constructive
engagement and amix of expertise should be brought to bear onit.

REFERRAL AND SCREENING

On how the compliance system would beinitiated, Co-Chair Slade
pointed out that the questionsinvolved were ones of referral and
screening. Referral could be by: ERTsunder Article 8 (review of infor-
mation); a Party or agroup of Partieswith respect to itself or them-
selves; aParty or agroup of Partieswith respect to another Party or
group of Parties (under certain circumstances); the COP/MOP; and the
FCCC Secretariat. On screening, theissueswould relate to who would
screen and on what basis. He asked participantsto focus on the criteria
for screening and the rol e of the COP/MOP in the screening function.

The US suggested the need to discussthe term “under certain
circumstances.” JAPAN, with the USand SAMOA, questioned the
need to specifically provide the COP/MOP with areferral function
sincereferral could be by “aParty or group of Parties’ She also ques-
tioned the need to involve the Secretariat inthereferral process.
CHINA, withthe UNITED ARAB EMIRATES and NEW
ZEALAND, said Parties should be the main initiators. With BRAZIL
and the US, she questioned therole of the ERTsin the process of
referral since they were concerned only with technical information.
She argued that providing the ERTs, and the Secretariat, with the func-
tion of referral would underminetheir objectivity. Co-Chair Sladeclar-
ified that a distinction existed between thereport of the ERTsand the
ERTsthemselves. The UNITED ARAB EMIRATES said that therole
of the ERT should end onceit submitsitsreport to the Secretariat and
that the COP/MOP should merely have an appellate role. SAMOA
stressed the need to preserve the non-confrontational aspect of the
compliance process. He said that process should not move forward
merely because one Party brings acase against another. Hedid not
favor arolefor the Secretariat, asits objectivity would be undermined.
SAMOA said therewere several difficultieswith the two-body
approach, since, for instance an allegation of apotential non-compli-
ance could go both to the enforcement and facilitative body.

SOUTH AFRICA sought clarification on what screening was. In
response, the US defined screening as the process that would knock
out deminimis cases and determine whether amatter deservesto go
forward. SAMOA highlighted the need to agree on criteriato deter-
mine and knock out deminimis cases. The US said that the COP/MOP
need have norolein the screening process. SAUDI ARABIA
suggested that thereferral be by the ERTs after a subcommittee of the
COP/MOP has screened the case and decides whether it would go to
the compliance body, SBI or SBSTA. He said he did not see aneed for
referralsby a Party or group of Partieswith respect to another Party or
group of Parties, but if it wasto be accepted, criteriafor screening
should be agreed upon.

BRAZIL said the COP/MOP had aroleinreferral althoughitssize
and thefrequency of itsmeetings might jeopardizethe efficiency of the
compliance system. He suggested instead that a COP/M OP committee
composed of Party representatives screen issues before acompliance
procedure could beinitiated. He opposed areferral functionfor the
Secretariat but said it had aroleto play in supporting the compliance
system. The EU said the Secretariat could both constitute a source of
information, since it received the ERTS reports, and refer casesto the
compliance body as a consequence of itsinitial check of Parties’
reportsin the review process. ARGENTINA said non-Annex | Parties
should be ableto refer acase of non-compliancewith Article 3.1
(quantified emission limitation and reduction commitments).
AUSTRALIA said ERTs had atechnical assessment function and,
accordingly, an essential referral function. She opposed apossible
screening role by the COP/MOP and said it was difficult to distinguish
between a COP/M OP commiittee, as suggested by BRAZIL and

SAUDI ARABIA, and a COP/M OP-established compliance body.
NEW ZEALAND opposed apossible screening by the COP/MOP or a
COP/MOP subsidiary body since the compliance processwasto be
independent and of a quasi-judicial nature. Co-Chair Dovland
explained that the ERTS' reportswould automatically bereferredto a
screening body. This body would apply agreed criteriato determine
whether theissuewould go to afacilitative or an enforcement process.
Thisway, ERTswould keep their technical function.

PROCEDURE OF TREATMENT OF CASES

Co-Chair Slade proposed astaged approach unlesstheissuerelated
to the mechani sms during the commitment period or to Article 3.1 at
the end of the commitment period. AUSTRALIA said astaged
approach should apply to every issue and that there could be athree-
month timelimit for the facilitation processrelating to eligibility in
order to ensuretimeliness. The US said the staged approach would not
be applicablein all cases since the screening process may directly lead
to an enforcement process. Supported by the UK, he added that only
eligibility issueswould go to an enforcement process, not any issue
related to the mechanisms. The WORLD WILDLIFE FUND explained
that other i ssuesrel ating to the mechanismswere aliability system, the
existence of aceiling aswell asa post-verification approach. The UK
said there could be aclose liai son between the two EU-proposed
branches of the compliance body, including the possibility of referral
from one branch to the other, and that any conclusionsresulting from a
compliance procedure would be in the name of the compliance body.
NEW ZEALAND said the absence of aformal separation between the
two branches questioned the very existence of a separation between a
facilitation and an enforcement process.

PROCEDURE FOR THE KYOTO MECHANISMS

Onthe procedure for the Kyoto M echanisms, Co-Chair Dovland
identified the main questions: what would be the main elements of an
expedited procedure for the mechanisms; should this procedure also
consider whether non-compliance problems are corrected and the
Party in question can return to use the mechanisms; should a Party be
given achanceto appeal the conclusion of the expedited body and, if
so, whoto; and what are the timelinesfor each stage of the procedure
and for the procedure asawhole.

SAMOA asked that participants al so consider the status of Parties
in the period between the raising of a question of complianceand its
resolution. The US said that there should be no changein status until
thereisadetermination by acompetent body that non-compliance
exists. The UNITED ARAB EMIRATES added that the presumption
of good faith and innocence would require that no action be taken until
thereisadetermination of non-compliance. In responseto this posi-
tion, SAMOA suggested that Parties should then consider retroactive
liability rulesfor tradesthat have already occurred. Following aques-
tion by the UNITED ARAB EMIRATES, SAMOA clarified that the
rule that would be applied, namely the éligibility rule, would already
bein place soit would not actually be acase of retroactive application
of law. JAPAN highlighted the difference between cases under Article
6.4 (question of implementation raised in the case of JI) and other
cases, and added that in the case of retroactive penalties, the concern
voiced by SOUTH AFRICA about the effect on innocent Parties
would berelevant.

Co-Chair Dovland asked Partiesto consider whether in the case of
an expedited procedure there should be an appeal. JAPAN and
SAMOA referred to their respective proposalsfor acompliance
system and said that such an appeal would be available. NEW
ZEALAND aso favored an appeal from the expedited procedure.



Monday, 6 March 2000

Vol. 12 No. 124 Page 8

PROCEDURES OF THE COMPLIANCE BODY/IES

Co-Chair Dovland presented the different elements of the proce-
dures of the compliance body/ies: decision making, due process,
procedures for appeal, sources of information, frequency of meetings,
report on activitiesto each session of the COP/MOP, and rul es of
procedure. NEW ZEAL AND said the appeal process should be a self-
contained system divorced from political considerationsand estab-
lished through Article 19 (dispute settlement). The US, with JAPAN,
stressed the importance of due processin the enforcement procedure.
He said due processincluded: the right of the Party concerned to rebut
evidence submitted against it; two rounds of written submissions; and
apublic hearing of somesort. Heidentified aneed for aninitial
screening stage during which the compliance body could narrow down
theissues submitted. With AUSTRALIA, he added there should bea
widevariety of sources of information that the compliance body could
use, as appropriate. The EU said therules of procedure would deter-
mine which sources of information were available to the compliance
body. AUSTRALIA, supported by BRAZIL and the UK, said the
appeal procedure should be part of the compliance system and that
Article 19 only applied to bilateral disputes. On therelationship of the
compliance system with the COP/M OP, she suggested that the
outcome of the compliance body and the appeal be submitted to the
COP/MOP that would noteit by applying the negative consensusrule.
On appeal, JAPAN said the Party concerned could ask the COP/MOP
to take adecision on the need to re-examine the outcome of the compli-
ance body. The issue would then go back to the compliance body for
reexamination. Following aquestion by CANADA, she said the COP/
MOPitself could decidethat acase needed to be reexamined. SAMOA
said that due process must be balanced with the interest of the commu-
nity to haveissues settled. He added that an appeal would only be
possible at the end of the commitment period. Moreover, since one of
the purposes of an appeal process was to examine whether the compli-
ance body had applied the law correctly, the appeal body neededto bea
separate body from the compliance body. The UK expressed concern
over the possibility that a Party could take advantage of aninternal
appeal processto expand the compliance process. NEW ZEALAND
responded that the Article 19 right of appeal could not be limited.

ROLE OF THE COP/MOP

On the question of how the COP/M OP would treat the report/
conclusions of the compliance body, Co-Chair Dovland presented
variousoptions. It could, inter alia; provide general policy guidanceto
the compliance body/ies; receive reports from the compliance body/
ies; consider the conclusions of the compliance body/ies; request the
compliance body/iesto reexamine amatter; and/or accept the report of
the compliance body/ies unless the COP/MOP decides by consensus
not to adopt the report. JAPAN drew attention to thefact that although
the COP/MOP playsarole asageneral assembly and has alegiti-
mizing function with respect to final decisions of the compliance body,
dueto the nature of COP/MOPitispractically difficult for it to
consider all therelevant issues. NEW ZEALAND opposed a“ hands
on” rolefor the COP/MOP and, with the EU, suggested that the COP/
MOP merely provide policy “background” to the compliance bodies.
CANADA opposed the suggestion that the COP/MOP be entitled to
ask the compliance body to re-examine amatter. Onthe COP/MOP's
decision to accept the report of the compliance body, he suggested that,
for it to be asnon-palitical as possible, asimple majority be applied.
On the decision of the COP/MOPto reject areport of the compliance
body, he supported adouble-majority rule of both Annex | and non-
Annex | Parties. The CENTER FOR INTERNATIONAL ENVIRON-
MENTAL LAW suggested the application of anegative super majority
instead of anegative consensusrule.

SAUDI ARABIA drew attentionto Article 8. 5 (COP/MOP to
consider information and questions of implementation with the assis-
tance of the subsidiary bodies). He suggested that i ssues of implemen-
tation that could befaced by several Partiesbe dealt with by the SBI
and methodol ogical issuesthat could be faced by several Partiesbe
dealt with by the SBSTA.

POSSIBLE OUTCOMES OR CONSEQUENCES

Co-Chair Dovland proposed three categories of possible outcomes
or conseguences. The facilitative-oriented outcome would include
advice, assistance, publication of non-compliance or possible non-
compliance, issuing of cautions, and recommendation of policiesand
measures. The outcomes or consequences rel ated to the mechanisms
could include the suspension of theright to use mechanisms. Finally,
the outcomes or consequencesrelated to Article 3.1 could include a
financial penalty or the subtraction from a subsequent commitment
period with apenalty rate. He added that Parties had also raised the
possibility of amenu approach aswell as a possible combination of
outcomes or consequences.

JAPAN, the US and others questioned the proposed three catego-
ries of outcomes or consequences. JAPAN said facilitative conse-
guenceswould also apply to complianceissuesrelated to the
mechanisms and that there should be astaged approach in the case of
non-compliance with Article 3.1. First, there would be publication of
non-compliance, thenissuing of cautionsand finally recommendations
of policiesand measures. The US said adistinction between the
outcomes or consequences should be based on their mandatory or non-
mandatory nature.

AUSTRALIA favored amenu approach whereby aParty not
complying with Article 3.1 could choose from a predetermined set of
roughly equivalent consequences. SAMOA asked whether the “equiv-
alence” of possible consequences a Party could choose from would be
interms of their impact on the environment. SAUDI ARABIA
expressed concern over the possibility of asmall body such asthe
compliance body recommending policiesand measures, and said the
impact of such policiesand measureson non-Annex | countries should
be taken into account. JAPAN said the policies and measures that
could be recommended by the compliance body would depend on the
futurework of the SBI and SBSTA on policies and measures, in partic-
ular inrelation to best practices.

The UK said an exhaustivelist of facilitative outcomes or conse-
guenceswould not be desirable sinceit would limit the ability of the
compliance body to adopt atailored approach. He added that a
“compliance action plan” could be auseful tough-soft consequence
whereby anon-complying Party would voluntarily submit stepson
how it intendsto comply. That Party would then be under greater pres-
sureto comply. The EU said that such a“ compliance action plan”
would be oneway to overcome hisreservations about subtraction from
future commitment periods. SAMOA said that since Article 7
(communication of information) already requested Partiesto commu-
nicate what they intended to do in order to comply with its commit-
ments, a“ compliance action plan” should go further.

SOUTH AFRICA, opposed by SAUDI ARABIA, identified aneed
for automatic sanctions. CANADA made adistinction between auto-
maticity and predetermination of consequences. He added that auto-
maticity meant that the cause, type, degree and frequency of non-
compliance could not be taken into account, asrequired by Article 18
(non-compliance). The US said automaticity of sanctions meant that
the consequence of a particular case of non-compliance would be
predetermined and applied automatically. ENVIRONMENTAL
DEFENSE added that automaticity would ensure predictability and
consistency of consequences. NEW ZEAL AND supported automa-
ticity sinceit would ensure predictability for the effective functioning



Vol. 12 No. 124 Page 9

Monday, 6 March 2000

of the market. He objected to financial penaltiesand to punitive conse-
guencesin general. Supported by AUSTRALIA, he opposed theloss
of accessto mechanismsasaresult of afailureto meet the obligations
under Article 3.1. He said that such failure should only resultin the
loss of ability to sell, not buy, AAUs. He said that the proposal
entailing loss of ability to transfer AAUs until a Party had demon-
strated that “it will haveasurplus’ was unclear. AOSIS and the EU
supported the retention of both proposed consequences limiting the
accessto mechanisms.

The US said that in cases where Parties had agreed to fulfill their
commitments under Article 3 jointly and that there was a case of non-
compliancewith Articles 5 (methodological issues) and 7, theresult
set forthin Article 4.5 (individual responsibility to meet levelsof emis-
sionsin the agreement) should apply. The CENTER FOR CLEAN
AIR POLICY suggested that other consequences of non-compliance
could includeimposition of acompliance reserve aswell asbuyer
liability. INDIA cautioned against the use of termsthat are not
contained in the Protocol, such as*AAUS,” and said the WG should
not prejudge the outcome of the work undertaken by the contact group
on mechanisms.

GENERAL PROVISIONS (OBJECTIVE, NATURE AND
PRINCIPLES)

Co-Chair Dovland drew attention to the objectives, outlined in the
Co-Chairs working paper, which include:

« tofoster and promote compliance with commitmentsunder the

Protocol;

* toprovideadviceand facilitate assistancein overcoming diffi-
culties;

« toprevent non-compliance with commitments under the Protocol;
and

* toaddresscasesof non-compliance.

SAUDI ARABIA suggested that the compliance system be
concerned with ensuring compliance rather than preventing non-
compliance. With the UK, NEW ZEALAND and SOUTH AFRICA,
he suggested changing the language on the last proposed objectiveto
read: “to determing” and address non-compliance. He stressed the
need for principlesto stand al onerather than be lumped together under
general provisions. The UK, with NEW ZEALAND, suggested that
since aprocedure could not guarantee compliance, the objective “to
prevent non-compliance with commitments under the Protocol” be
deleted. He suggested that the objective “to provide advice and facili-
tate assistancein overcoming difficulties” should be elaborated to
specify thedifficulties. With SAMOA, he commented that there was
overlap between the objectives and functions sections and these two
would haveto befully consistent with each other.

SOUTH AFRICA suggested that the compliance system specifi-
cally take on board the precautionary approach. The UK proposed that,
since the precautionary approach isameansto an end rather than an
endinitself, it should be part of the principlesrather than the objec-
tives section. SOUTH AFRICA expressed concern that since some
Parties did not wish to include a principles section, placing the precau-
tionary approach there might result initseventual exclusion. JAPAN
questioned the utility of including the precautionary principle sinceit
isageneral principlethat doesnot direct concrete actionin non-
compliance cases. AUSTRALIA asked how the precautionary prin-
ciple could assist Partiesin achieving compliance. SAMOA explained
that the process of inventories adjustment il lustrated a precautionary
approach to compliance. With SOUTH AFRICA and the UNITED
ARAB EMIRATES, he stressed the need to include the objective of
“making the climatewhole.” INDIA, with CHINA, stressed theimpor-
tance of including the notion of common but differentiated responsibil -
itiesintheprinciples section. CANADA, with AUSTRALIA and the
US, opposed the expressinclusion of principlesinthe elementsof a

compliance framework as he said, the compliance process should
ensure the implementation of the Protocol provisions rather than add
new rulesand principles. TheUS, the EU and AUSTRALIA added
that the Protocol principles should be reflected in the design of the
compliance system itself.

SCOPE OF APPLICATION

On the scope of application of the compliance system, the Co-
Chairs' working paper reads: “ apply to al commitmentsin or under
the Protocol; distinct treatment may be applied to some specific
commitments.” The UNITED ARAB EMIRATES sought clarification
on the purpose of using the term, “in or under the Protocol.” Co-Chair
Dovland responded that the term referred to the relevant rules and
guidelines adopted by the COP/MOP. The UNITED ARAB EMIR-
ATES said that these would be part of the Protocol. Co-Chair Dovland
responded that the issue was disputed. SAUDI ARABIA said that all
the obligations under the Protocol, not just commitmentsunder Article
3.1, should be covered. He added that a distinction should be made
between the rules and guidelines adopted by the COP/MOP and the
provisions of the Protocol itself. He highlighted the fact that some
Parties commitments are contingent on other Parties’ fulfillment of
their commitments. He suggested that the scope of application of the
compliance system reflect that non-Annex | countries are not subject
to“enforcement.” AUSTRALIA stressed that Article 3.1 targets
should constitute the core of the compliance system.

CLOSING SESSION

Inthe closing session, Co-Chair Slade introduced the proposed
main subject headings of apaper that the Co-Chairswill prepare onthe
elements of acompliance system under the Protocol. He went through
the different headings, highlighting the outcome of the workshop
discussions.

On general provisions, he said the objective of determining non-
compliance aswell asthe precautionary-approach nature of the
compliance system would be mentioned. He added that “ principles’
would form astand-alone provision. He highlighted the possibility of
having ageneral referenceto the principles containedin the FCCC. On
the scope of application, he said more work was needed. On the estab-
lishment of the Compliance Institution, he said it was up to the Parties
to decide whether there would be asingleinstitution with an expedited
procedurefor eligibility issues or with two branches. On the functions
of the Compliance I nstitution he noted a consensus on the four func-
tions outlined in the Co-Chairs' working paper and said that the refer-
enceto eligibility requirements regarding mechanisms needed to be
made more precise. He said the structure of the Compliance Institution
needed to be further discussed.

On referral, he took note of the possible role of the COP/MOP. He
said discussions on screening had highlighted apossiblerolefor the
Compliance Institution, the COP/MOP or aspecial committee of the
COP/MORP. On the procedure for treatment of cases, he said concerns
had been expressed over the flow of casesand that discussions had
referred to astaged approach and the identification of criteriafor
assignment to afacilitative or an enforcement process. On procedures
for the Kyoto mechanisms, he highlighted views expressed over the
process and procedure for appeal, including whether therewould a
new body or the COP/M OP would be used. He noted general agree-
ment on the need for atrue-up period and that areferenceto avolun-
tary fund would be made. On the outcomes or consequences of non-
compliance or potential non-compliance, he said the proposed conse-
guence that would entail loss of ability to transfer AAUs until aParty
has demonstrated that it will have a surpluswould be elaborated. On
the COP/MORP, he said it would preserveits policy role. He added the
Secretariat would essentially channel information and service meet-
ings of the Compliance Institution. He said the headings on therela-



Monday, 6 March 2000

Voal. 12 No. 124 Page 10

tionship with Articles 16 (MCP) and 19 (dispute settlement) would be
maintai ned and that the linkages with the work undertaken in other
contact groups needed to be kept in mind.

SAUDI ARABIA said there was no consensus on the fact that
mechanismswere an issueto be dealt with at this stage. Onthe
outcomes of non-compliance, he suggested that areferenceto Article
18 (non-compliance) beincluded in afootnote. He added that the
policy guidance role of the COP/M OP needed to be highlighted and
that the role of the subsidiary bodieshad to be clarified. INDIA said
that Parties should adhere to the language in the Protocol and keep in
mind work undertaken in other contact groups. NEW ZEALAND
stressed the importance of including the concept of appeal. He
requested that the discussion over theloss of ability to transfer AAUs
until a Party has demonstrated that it will have a surplus should be
reflected, in particular on whether having asurplusmeant beingin
compliance. The USrequested that the distinctive nature of thefacili-
tative and enforcement components be clearly reflected. SAMOA
suggested incorporating areferenceto environmental integrity inthe
general provisionsand, with regard to the NEW ZEALAND proposal,
said the post-verification approach, listed asapotential consequence
of non-compliance, needed to remain intact and not be mixed with
borrowing. The EU sought areferenceto variations of acompliance
fund both under the true-up period and the outcomes.

Onfuturework, Co-Chair Slade said the Co-Chairswould prepare
by April apaper based on the proposed headings, the discussions
during theworkshop as well astheir working paper resulting from the
Montreux consultations. He explained that the compliance group
would intensify itswork during the week preceding SB-12, including
through asession on crosscutting issues. He added that the Co-Chairs
would endeavor to prepare by June adevel oped text that could form
the basisfor negotiations during SB-12. SAUDI ARABIA requested
clarification over the relationship between the work undertaken on the
different elements of the BAPA. Co-Chair Dovland said that although
it was difficult to guarantee an equal development within the different
groups, it seemed that the processes were making similar progress.
FCCC Executive Secretary Michagl Zammit-Cutajar welcomed the
fact that the group was addressing inter-linkages between issues and
took note of the concerns over abalanced implementation of the
BAPA. He said the COP Bureau was di scussing ways of ensuring
forward movement on all fronts. Co-Chair Slade brought the meeting
toacloseat 12:00 noon on Friday, 3 March.

THINGSTO LOOK FOR BEFORE COP-6

FCCC WORKSHOPS: A workshop on “Initial actionsrelating to
the adverse effects of climate change, in accordancewith Articles4.8
and 4.9 of the Convention” will be held from 9-11 March 2000in
Bonn. A workshop on “Methodol ogical approaches and actions neces-
sary under the FCCC and relating to theimpact of theimplementation
of response measuresin accordancewith Article 4.8 and 4.9 of the
Convention and in the light of mattersrelated to Article 3.14 of the
Kyoto Protocol” will be held from 13-15 March 2000in Bonn. A
workshop on*“Issuesrelated to Articles5, 7 & 8 of the Kyoto Protocol”
will be held from 14-16 March 2000 in Bonn. A workshop on “ Tech-
nology transfer for the Latin America & the Caribbean region” will be
held from 29-31 March 2000 in El Salvador. A workshop on “Best
practicesin policiesand measures’ will be held from 11-13 April 2000
in Copenhagen. A workshop on“Non-Annex | communicationsfor
Latin America& the Caribbean region” will be held from 1-5 May
2000 in Mexico City. For moreinformation, contact: the FCCC Secre-
tariat; tel: +49-228-815-1000; fax: +49-228-815-1999; e-mail: secre-
tariat@unfccc.de; Internet: http://www.unfccc.de/sessions/
workhops.html

SEATTLE SUMMIT ON PROTECTING THEWORLD’S
CLIMATE: Thismeetingwill be held from 3-5 April 2000 in Seattle,
USA. The summit is being organized by the Climate Institutein part-
nership with Climate Solutions. It aimsto bring together key individ-
uals, including leadersin the information and tel ecommunications
revolutions of thelast two decades. For moreinformation, contact: the
Climate Institute; tel: +1-202-547-0104; fax: +1-202-547-0111;
Internet; http://www.climate.org/seattlesummit

PACIFIC ISLANDSCONFERENCE ON CLIMATE
CHANGE, CLIMATE VARIABILITY AND SEA LEVEL
CHANGE: Thismeeting will be held from 3-7 April 2000 in Raro-
tonga, Cook Islands. The meeting isbeing organized by the South
Pacific Regional Environment Programme (SPREP), in partnership
with the National Tidal Facility, UNDP and GEF through the Pacific
Islands Climate Change Assistance Programme. For more informa-
tion, contact: SPREP, fax: +685-202-31; e-mail:
kaluwin@sprep.org.ws; Internet: http://www.sprep.org.ws

CLIMATEPOLICY WORKSHOP: FROM KYOTOTO THE
HAGUE - EUROPEAN PERSPECTIVESON MAKING THE
KYOTO PROTOCOL WORK: Thisworkshop will take placefrom
18-19 April 2000 in Amsterdam, and is being organized by the Euro-
pean Forum on Integrated Environmental Assessment. The workshop
will review scientificinformation relevant for the EU and its member
Statesin preparing for FCCC COP-6 and will aim to enhance the
policy relevance of climate-related research in Europe. For moreinfor-
mation, contact: Albert Faber, RIVM; tel: +31-30-274-3683/3728; fax:
+31-30-274-4435; e-mail: albert.faber@rivm.nl; Internet: http://
www.vu.nl/english/o_o/instituten/IV M/research/efiea/announce.htm

CONFERENCE ON INNOVATIVE POLICY SOLUTIONS
TO GLOBAL CLIMATE CHANGE: This Conferencewill beheld
from 25-26 April 2000 in Washington DC. It isbeing co-hosted by the
Pew Center on Global Climate Change and the Royal Institute of Inter-
national Affairs. Themeeting will consider innovative policies
currently being implemented by industrialized country governments
and the private sector to address climate change. For moreinforma-
tion, contact MichellePilliod; tel: +1-202-544-7900; fax: +1-202-544-
7922; e-mail: pilliodmp@aol.com; Internet: http://www.pewcli-
mate.org/forms/innov_conf.html

11TH GLOBAL WARMING INTERNATIONAL CONFER-
ENCE AND EXPO: Thismeeting, entitled "Kyoto Compliance
Review - Year 2000 Conference," will be held from 25-28 April 2000
in Boston. It isbeing sponsored by the Global Warming I nternational
Program Committee and the Global Warming | nternational Center. For
more information, contact: Sinyan Shen; tel: +1-630-910-1551; fax:
+1-630-910-1561; e-mail: syshen@megsinet.net; Internet; http://
globalwarming.net/gw11.html

12TH SESSION OF THE FCCC SUBSIDIARY BODIES: SB-
12 will be held from 12-16 June 2000 in Bonn. It will be preceded by
oneweek of informal meetings, including workshops. For moreinfor-
mation, contact: the FCCC Secretariat; tel: +49-228-815-1000; fax:
+49-228-815-1999; e-mail: secretariat@unfccc.de; Internet: http://
www.unfccc.de/sessi ons/sessions.html

FCCC 13TH SESSION OF THE SUBSIDIARY BODIES: SB-
13 will be held from 11-15 September 2000 in Bonn. It will be
preceded by oneweek of informal meetings, including workshops. For
moreinformation, contact: the FCCC Secretariat.

FCCC SIXTH CONFERENCE OF THE PARTIES: COP-6
will be held from 13-24 November 2000 in The Hague, the Nether-
lands. For more information, contact: the FCCC Secretariat.



